ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 27 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Certiorari to Greenville County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

ORLANDO SMITH,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2012-213673

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the lower court err in applying the seven-year time limit found in section 17-28-30(B) of the South Carolina Code, which applies to individuals who pled guilty or no contest by its clear and unambiguous language, to Orlando Smith's application for post-conviction DNA testing where Smith pled not guilty requiring application of section 17-28-30(A) of the South Carolina Code, which has no time limit?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2000, Orlando Smith was tried before the Honorable Larry R. Patterson and a jury on the charge of murder. G. David Seay represented the state, and C. Timothy Sullivan represented Smith. App. 1. On July 19, 2000, the jury found Smith guilty as charged. App. 313, lines 21 – 23. Judge Patterson sentenced Smith to thirty years' imprisonment. App. 321, lines 5 – 7. Smith filed a direct appeal challenging his conviction. Joseph L. Savitz, III, represented Smith by filing a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). This Court dismissed his appeal on May 23, 2002 in an unpublished opinion. App. 323 – 324; State v. Smith, Op. No. 2002-UP-372 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 23, 2002).

On September 17, 2002, Smith filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). This action was assigned case number 2002-CP-23-6327. App. 325 – 331. Additionally, Smith filed a motion to compel production of evidence for scientific testing. App. 335 – 336. An order to compel production was signed on October 24, 2003 and filed on October 31, 2003. App. 337 – 338. The matter proceeded to a hearing on October 22, 2003 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. John A. O'Leary represented Smith, and Christopher L. Newton represented the state. App. 339. After the hearing, Smith submitted a memorandum in support of PCR with accompanying affidavits. App. 410 – 431. By order filed on March 31, 2004, Judge Miller denied Smith relief. App. 432 – 437. Smith filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP. App. 438 – 440. By order filed June 15, 2004, Judge Miller denied the motion. App. 441. Smith filed a petition for writ of certiorari following the denial of his PCR application. His appellate counsel filed a petition pursuant to Johnson v. State, 294 S.C. 310, 364 S.E.2d 201 (1988). The matter was referred to this Court. On June 12, 2006, this Court denied the petition. App. 442 – 443.

On February 17, 2009, Smith wrote to the local clerk of court requesting an application form for the “Post-Conviction DNA Procedures Act.” App. 444. On March 19, 2009, South Carolina Court Administration sent Smith a letter advising him that the forms were unavailable at that time and would be made available at a later date. App. 445.

On December 16, 2009, Smith completed and submitted an application for forensic DNA testing to the Clerk of Court for Greenville County. App. 448 – 452. In response, Smith received an order from the South Carolina Supreme Court dated April 10, 2009. The order provided that although the Court had created a form for the application for forensic DNA testing, applications were not to be accepted for filing in any court until the Act was implemented. A footnote further explained that the Act would not be implemented until such time as general funds were appropriated or federal or other funds were received to begin implementation of the Act. App. 453.

On September 1, 2010, Smith filed an application for PCR seeking DNA testing. This action was assigned case number 2010-CP-23-7261. App. 454 – 467. The Honorable Robin Stilwell issued a conditional order of dismissal on January 20, 2011 as untimely and successive. App. 474 – 479. Smith responded to the conditional order of dismissal explaining the tortured procedural history of his attempt to have access to forensic DNA testing. App. 480 – 493. After a hearing, the Honorable Edward Miller dismissed Smith’s application as barred by the statute of limitations and successive. App. 530 – 536. Tricia A. Blanchette represented Smith, and Karen C. Ratigan represented the state. App. 499.

Smith attempted to appeal Judge Miller’s decision. App. 553 – 554. On April 2, 2012, the Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote to Smith’s counsel asking for an explanation of any arguable basis for asserting the determination by the PCR judge was improper. App. 555 – 556. Smith responded by explaining, among other things, his previous attempts to obtain forensic DNA

testing. App. 557 – 565. On May 29, 2012, all five justices of the South Carolina Supreme Court signed an order finding Smith had failed to show there was an arguable basis for asserting that the determination by the PCR court was improper. Thus, the Court dismissed the notice of appeal.

Importantly, the Court added the following paragraph to its order:

However, [Smith] may submit another Application for DNA Testing to the Greenville County Clerk of Court pursuant to the Access to Justice Post Conviction DNA Testing Act, see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-2 -10, et seq. (Supp. 2011), and that application should be processed as set forth in the Act.

App. 566.

Smith filed a second application for forensic DNA testing on March 20, 2012 with the Greenville County Clerk of Court. App. 568 – 572. On August 8, 2012, the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin denied Smith’s application for post-conviction DNA testing after concluding the application was time-barred pursuant to section 17-28-30(B) of the South Carolina Code. Smith filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC on August 22, 2012. App. 583 – 588. On December 13, 2012, Judge Verdin denied Smith’s motion to alter or amend. App. 589.

The South Carolina Code provides that an applicant who sought DNA testing pursuant to the Access to Justice Post-Conviction DNA Testing Act has “the right to appeal a final order denying or granting DNA testing by a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-90(G). By Order dated January 29, 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted Rule 247 as an amendment to the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules governing the procedures for certiorari to review DNA testing decisions. The amendment was submitted to the General Assembly as required by South Carolina’s Constitution. After the passage of ninety days without rejection by the General Assembly, the Rule became effective on April 29, 2009 pursuant to a subsequent Supreme Court Order. Specifically, the Rule provides that if the review involves forensic testing in a death penalty

case or involves a challenge to the constitutionality of a state law or county or municipal ordinance, the notice of appeal must be filed with the Supreme Court. However, “[i]n all other cases, the notice of appeal shall be filed with the Court of Appeals.” Rule 247 (b), SCACR. Therefore, Smith filed his notice of appeal with this Court. App. 590 – 593. Smith, through undersigned counsel, now files this petition for writ of certiorari.

ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in applying the seven-year time limit found in section 17-28-30(B) of the South Carolina Code, which applies to individuals who pled guilty or no contest by its clear and unambiguous language, to Orlando Smith's application for post-conviction DNA testing where Smith pled not guilty requiring application of section 17-28-30(A) of the South Carolina Code, which has no time limit.

Relevant facts

On July 15, 2000, Smith pled not guilty and was tried by a jury on the charge of murder. App. 1. Smith testified in his defense and maintained his innocence. App. 229, line 19 – App. 230, line 18. In short, Smith testified to finding the deceased in her apartment and moving her in an attempt to revive her. App. 230, line 12; App. 243, line 11 – 244, line 21; App. 250, lines 10 – 18. On July 19, 2000, the jury convicted Smith of murder. App. 313, lines 21 – 23. Judge Patterson sentenced Smith to thirty years' imprisonment. App. 321, lines 5 – 7. During the sentencing, Judge Patterson noted that the jury struggled for a long time during its deliberations. Although the judge knew nothing about the jury's actual deliberations, he noted that the record contained "no reason" why Smith would have committed the crime. In fact, Smith's prior criminal record was devoid of any acts of violence. App. 320, line 17 – App. 321, line 2.

In 2008, the South Carolina General Assembly passed the the Access to Justice Post-Conviction DNA Testing Act to permit incarcerated individuals, who had been convicted of certain offenses, access to DNA testing. On January 1, 2009, the Act became effective. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-10, et seq. On February 17, 2009, Smith wrote to the local clerk of court requesting an application form for the Post-Conviction DNA Testing Act. App. 444. On March 19, 2009, Smith learned Court Administration was in the process of developing the Application for Forensic DNA

Testing, which would be distributed and posted on the court's website upon approval of the Supreme Court. App. 445.

On December 16, 2009, Smith submitted an application for forensic DNA testing to the Clerk of Court for Greenville County. App. 448 – 452. In response, Smith received an order from the South Carolina Supreme Court dated April 10, 2009 explaining that although the Court had created a form for the application for forensic DNA testing, applications would not to be accepted for filing in any court until the Act was implemented by the appropriation of funds. App. 453.

On September 1, 2010, Smith filed an application for PCR seeking DNA testing. App. 454 – 467. Judge Stilwell issued a conditional order of dismissal based upon the statute of limitations and the successive nature of the application. App. 474 – 479. Smith responded to the conditional explaining his multiple attempts to have access to forensic DNA testing. App. 480 – 493. Additionally, Smith sought discovery in his PCR action. App. 494 – 497. After a hearing on the matter, Judge Miller dismissed Smith's application as barred by the statute of limitations and successive. He further denied the motion for discovery. App. 530 – 536.

Smith filed a notice of appeal concerning Judge Miller's decision. App. 553 – 554. The Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote to Smith's counsel asking for an explanation of any arguable basis for asserting the determination by the PCR judge was improper concerning the findings of untimeliness and successiveness pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(v). App. 555 – 556. Smith detailed his previous attempts to obtain forensic DNA testing. App. 557 – 565. On May 29, 2012, all five justices of the South Carolina Supreme Court signed an order finding Smith had failed to show there was an arguable basis for asserting that the determination by the PCR court was improper. Thus, the Court dismissed the notice of appeal. The Court added that Smith "may submit another Application for DNA Testing to the Greenville County Clerk of Court pursuant to the

Access to Justice Post Conviction DNA Testing Act, see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-2-10, et seq. (Supp. 2011), and that application should be processed as set forth in the Act.” App. 566.

Smith filed another application for forensic DNA testing on March 20, 2012. App. 568 – 572. In the state’s response to Smith’s application, the assistant solicitor argued the application was not timely. Although the state quoted section 17-28-30(B) in full – including its applicability only to individuals who pled guilty - the state argued that the Act required Smith to file his application within seven years from the date of sentencing. The state explained that Smith had been sentenced on July 19, 2000 and his application for DNA testing was received on February 23, 2012; therefore the application was beyond seven years from the date of sentencing, which the state maintained was applicable to Smith. App. 575 – 578.¹

On August 8, 2012, the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin denied Smith’s application for post-conviction DNA testing after concluding that the application was time-barred pursuant section 17-28-30(B). Smith filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, on August 22, 2012. Smith argued that Judge Verdin applied “the wrong code of law” to his application. Specifically, Smith explained that because he did not enter a guilty plea, section 17-28-30(B) did not apply to his application for forensic DNA testing. Instead, Smith argued, section 17-28-30(A), which has no limitations period, applied to his application. App. 583 – 588. Nevertheless, on

¹ According to the state’s response, the state received Smith’s application for DNA testing on February 23, 2012. App. 576. However, the state failed to respond until June 19, 2012. App. 578. The Act requires the solicitor of the circuit in which the applicant was convicted to respond to the application within ninety days after the forwarding of the application. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30(B). May 23, 2012 was ninety days from February 23, 2012 and June 16, 2012, which was a Saturday, was ninety days from March 20, 2012. Smith is unaware of the state seeking or receiving any extensions of time to respond. Indeed, Smith moved for default judgment on July 5, 2012. App. 579 – 581. It appears from the record that no action was taken on Smith's motion for default judgment.

December 13, 2012, Judge Verdin denied Smith's motion to alter or amend. Specifically, the order stated:

This court reiterates its finding that § 17-28-30(B) applies to those applicants who enter a plea of not guilty and were convicted at trial ("A person who ... was ... convicted ... for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for DNA testing ... no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.").

App. 589.

Discussion

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993). Under the plain meaning rule, the court should not alter the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 235, 509 S.E.2d 261, 262 (1998) (citations omitted). Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, conveying a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court should not impose another meaning. Id. (citing Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). In other words, "[t]he legislature's intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute." State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 375, 665 S.E.2d 645, 649 (Ct. App. 2008). The language of the statute "must be read in a sense which harmonizes with the subject matter and accordance with its general purpose." Id.

The Access to Justice Post-Conviction DNA Testing Act provides:

A person who pled not guilty to at least one of the following offenses, was subsequently convicted of or adjudicated delinquent for the offense, is currently

incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing of his DNA and any physical evidence or a biological material related to his conviction or adjudication: (1) murder (Section 16-3-10).

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30(A)(emphasis added). Therefore, to apply for forensic DNA testing under this subsection, a person must satisfy four requirements: (1) the person must have pled not guilty to an enumerated offense; (2) the person must have been convicted of the offense; (3) the person must be incarcerated for the offense; and (4) the person must assert his innocence of the offense.

In contrast, the Act provides a separate subsection for individuals who pled guilty or no contest to one of the enumerated offenses. Specifically, the act provides:

A person who pled guilty or nolo contendere to at least one of the offenses enumerated in section (A), was subsequently convicted of or adjudicated delinquent for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing of DNA and any physical evidence or biological material related to his conviction or adjudication no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30(B)(emphasis added). Therefore, to apply for forensic DNA testing under this subsection, a person must satisfy five requirements: (1) the person must have pled guilty to an enumerated offense; (2) the person must have been convicted of the offense; (3) the person must be incarcerated for the offense; (4) the person must assert his innocence of the offense; and (5) the person must apply for forensic DNA testing no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.

The plain language of section 17-28-30 is clear and unambiguous and must be applied accordingly. The plain language of the statute makes it clear that subsection (A) applies to individuals who pled not guilty. On the other hand, the plain language of the statute makes it clear that subsection (B) applies to individuals who pled guilty. Subsection (A) imposes no time limit for individuals who pled not guilty to file the application for forensic DNA testing, while

subsection (B) imposes a time limit of seven years for individuals who pled guilty to file the application for forensic DNA testing. The language used by the legislature in the Act is susceptible to only one interpretation – the seven-year time limit applies only to individuals who entered guilty pleas. None of the terms used in the statute is ambiguous. The grammar and sentence structure create no confusion regarding the purpose and intent of South Carolina’s legislature in creating a statute of limitations for individuals who pled guilty, but no such limitations period for those who did not.

Even the application, which was approved by the South Carolina Supreme Court, explains the limitations period applies only to individuals who entered guilty pleas. Specifically, the form includes the following statement:

I understand that DNA testing is only available if I have been convicted or adjudicated of an offense listed in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30, that I am currently incarcerated for that offense, and that I am asserting that I am innocent of that offense. Further, if the conviction or adjudication was the result of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the application must be filed within seven years of the date of sentencing.

App. 448 (form completed by Smith); App. 568(form completed by Smith); SCCA DNA 101 (04/2009) available at <http://www.sccourts.org/forms/pdf/SCCADNA101.pdf> (form promulgated by the Supreme Court)(last viewed on Nov. 26, 2013)(emphasis added).

Despite the clear and unambiguous language of the statute, the lower court found that subsection (B) applied “to those applicants who entered a plea of not guilty and were convicted at trial.” The lower court’s decision was based upon an obviously erroneous reading of the statute. When Smith asked the lower court to reconsider its decision because he was convicted after a trial, meaning subsection (A) was applicable, not subsection (B), which applied to guilty pleas, the lower court “reiterate[d] its finding that § 17-28-30(B) applies to those applicants who enter a plea of not guilty and were convicted at trial (“A person who ... was ... convicted ... for the