STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge
1998-GS-23-5212
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213673

THE STATE,

Respondent,

V.

ORLANDO SMITH,

Petitioner

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
IN SUPPORT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North St., Ste. 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 15 2014

SC Court of Appeals

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	

PETITIONER'S ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the lower court err in applying the seven-year time limit found in Section 17-28-30(B) of the South Carolina Code, which applies to individuals who pled guilty or no contest by its clear and unambiguous language, to Orlando Smith's application for post-conviction DNA testing where Smith pled not guilty requiring application of Section 17-28-30(A) of the South Carolina Code, which has no time limit?

RESPONDENT'S COUNTER QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Is certiorari warranted when an incarcerated defendant convicted after a jury trial in 2000 makes an application for DNA testing in 2012 when the trial court rejected the request as untimely under the seven year statute of limitations provision of § 17-28-30(B)?
2. Does the statute of limitations for the application for DNA testing under § 17-28-30(B) apply to all convictions for defined offenses whether the applicant was convicted by a jury after the entry of a not guilty plea or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere?
3. Does § 17-28-30(A) provide that a person convicted of a defined crime after a jury trial have the right to file an application for DNA testing during the entire period of their incarceration without regard to any statute of limitations?
4. If the statute of limitations applies, does a convicted defendant whose crime occurred longer than seven years prior to the enactment have any statutory right to seek an application under the Act?

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter concerns the denial by Circuit Court Judge Letitia Verdin of a 2012 application for D.N.A. testing pursuant to S.C. Code §17-28-10, *et. seq.*, from a 1998 indictment and 2000 conviction for murder after a jury trial before the Honorable Larry Patterson. The basis of her denial was her conclusion that the 2012 DNA application was subject to dismissal because the statute of limitations of seven years applied to the Petitioner's 2000 conviction, even though it resulted from a jury trial. App.p. 582, 589. The Petitioner appeals the decision and asserts that since he pled not guilty and had a jury trial under the Act the statute of limitations set forth in § 17-28-30(B) does not apply and his case falls within the provisions of § 17-28-30(A) where there is no statute of limitations. **The State respectfully requests certiorari should be granted to resolve this issue for the benefit of the bench and Bar.**

The 2012 DNA Application Proceedings

The Petitioner made an application for D.N.A. testing on **March 20, 2012**. App.p. 568-572. In the application, Smith stated he was identifying "hairs, ligature, fingerprints and blood" as items that should be tested. App.p. 569. He claimed that he sought the type of D.N.A. testing "in which identifiable information can be obtained." He asserting why it should be a significant issue he wrote: "there was 2 other individuals that where [sic] with the victim and DNA testing can exclude Applicant." App.p. 569. He further claimed that his trial counsel told him that D.N.A. testing had been done and nothing matched him. He asserted that at trial S.L.E.D. agents testified that D.N.A. test were not done. App.p. 569-570. In responding why the testing would likely change the result, Smith wrote "there were three suspects in this case and D.N.A. testing would exclude the Applicant and prove that someone else did the crime." App.p. 570.

The Solicitor's Office Opposition

The Solicitor's Office of the Thirteenth Circuit opposed the motion on June 12, 2012 asserting that it was unaware if required funding had been provided under the Act for the DNA testing, that the 2012 application was not timely because it was not done within seven years of the conviction in 2000. Lastly, the Solicitor's office argued that the Petitioner had failed to articulate why DNA testing would exclude the Defendant to the extent it would change the outcome of the 2000 trial. App.p. 575-578.

Judge Verdin's Denial under § 17-28-30(B) as untimely.

On August 8, 2012, the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge, entered an Order denying the motion for testing. App.p. 582. In particular, the Order stated:

... Applicant filed this application on March 20, 2012. Applicant was convicted of murder and sentenced on July 19, 2000. Therefore, this Court finds that this Application for Post-Conviction DNA Testing is time-barred pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-28-30(B) ("A person who ... was convicted ... for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing ... no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.").¹

App.p. 582. The Petitioner made a motion to alter and/or amend asserting that his request was not time-barred asserting that his request fell under § 17-28-30(A) rather than § 17-28-30(B) since he did plead not guilty and had a jury trial instead of a guilty plea. App.p. 583-584.

On December 13, 2012, Judge Verdin entered an order denying reconsideration. In its pertinent part, the Court concluded:

Defendant argues that the seven-year limit for the application for DNA testing proscribed in §17-28-30(B) does not apply to him because he did not plead guilty to the charge, but was instead convicted at trial. This Court reiterates its

¹ In her order Judge Verdin inexplicably removed from the statutory quote the portion of §17-28-30(B) which included the phrase "... person who pled guilty or nolo contendere ..." This parsing gives an entirely different meaning to the phrase.

finding that §17-28-30(B) applies to those applicants who entered a plea of not guilty and were convicted at trial (“A person who ... was convicted ... for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing . . . no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.”).

App.p. 589. This appeal follows.

OTHER RELATED PROCEDURAL HISTORY IN SMITH’S CASES

A. Trial and Direct Appeal.

The Applicant was indicted at the October 1998 term of the Greenville County Grand Jury for murder (1998-GS-23-5212). He was represented by C. Timothy Sullivan, Esquire. After the State called the case to trial, the Applicant was found guilty. On July 19, 2000, the Honorable Larry R. Patterson sentenced the Applicant to thirty (30) years imprisonment.

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Joseph L. Savitz HI, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense perfected the appeal in the form of an Anders brief. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal after review pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S. Ct. 1396, 18 L. Ed. 2d 493 (1967). State v. Orlando Smith, Op. No. 2002-UP-372 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 23, 2002). App.p. 323.

B. Smith v. State, 2002-CP-23-6327 (First PCR Action)

The Applicant next filed a PCR application on September 17, 2002 (2002-CP-23-6327).

The Applicant raised the following issues:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel:
 - a. Failed to conduct proper investigation.
 - b. Failed to properly object to denial of directed verdict motion.
 - c. Failed to subpoena witnesses.

d. Failed to object to certain State evidence.

e. Failed to seek psychological examination.

App.p. 325. In this action he was represented by John O'Leary.

2003 PCR Request for Scientific Testing in PCR Action

On October 13, 2003, counsel for Petitioner made a motion to compel production of evidence for scientific testing, specifically hair samples and palm prints, where the hair samples were not tested asserting that "these samples if tested against the standard samples collected from the applicant, more likely than would indicate that another person was present at the scene and exculpatory in nature. . ." App.p. 335-336.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on October 22, 2003 at the Greenville County Courthouse. John O'Leary, Esquire represented the Applicant. At the hearing, the Honorable Ned Miller orally ordered the collection of the evidence pursuant to the October 13, 2003 motion. App.p. 343. Testimony at the October 2003 hearing was received from Orlando Smith, Carolyn Bell and counsel Timothy Smith.

On October 31, 2003, Judge Miller entered an order dated October 24, 2003 pursuant to the motion directing that SLED and Greenville County Sheriff's Department produce and make available all physical evidence and samples collected for independent testing in addition to the work sheets and reports of the tests. If the samples were not available, it was ordered that the Court be advised within 15 days or that the production is complied within 15 days. App.p. 337-338.

Counsel O'Leary made a memorandum in support of post-conviction relief on December 16, 2003. App.p. 410-424. Particularly, an issue was raised concerning counsel failure to request independent testing of three hairs found on the body. App.p. 413-14, citing App.p. 396 (PCR 56). He also attached a report by Bruce Jernigan that the ligature found at the scene contained blood.

App.p. 418, citing App.p. 430-431.² Counsel further argued that trial counsel erred in failing to have the hair independently tested prior to trial or compared to a sample taken from another suspect Eric Burts. App.p. 422. [There is no evidence that this hair was independently tested by counsel O'Leary at the PCR proceeding despite the order authorizing such testing].

The Honorable Edward W. Miller denied and dismissed the application by order filed March 31, 2004. App.p. 432. A subsequent motion to alter or amend (App.p. 438-441) was denied. App.p. 441.

Denial in the Certiorari Appeal

The Applicant filed a notice of appeal. Robert M. Pachak, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense perfected the appeal in the form of a Johnson petition. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari on June 12, 2006 after review pursuant to Johnson v. State, 294 S.C. 310, 364 S.E.2d 201 (1988).

C. Smith v. Warden, 2006 Federal Habeas Corpus

The Applicant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina (6:07-327-RBH-WMC). The Respondent submitted a motion for summary judgment on July 2, 2007. The Honorable William M. Catoe, United States Magistrate Judge, issued a report and recommendation to grant the motion for summary judgment dated January 23, 2008. On March 31, 2008, the Honorable R. Bryan Harwell, United States District Judge, issued an order granting the motion for summary judgment as to all but one (1) issue. On August 12, 2008, Judge Catoe issued a second report and recommendation to grant the motion for summary judgment. On November 12, 2008, Judge Harwell granted the Respondent's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the petition with prejudice.

² The ligature was found on the victim's back porch by the dumpster. App.p. 111 (91)..

The Applicant filed a notice of appeal at the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. In an opinion filed August 10, 2010, the Court of Appeals denied a certificate of appealability and dismissed the appeal.

D. 2008 “ACCESS TO JUSTICE POST-CONVICTION DNA ACT”

In 2008, the General Assembly initially passed Access to Justice Post-Conviction DNA Act.” 2008 Acts and Joint Resolutions, Act No. 413, Section 7 of the Act established the effective date. The Act was ratified on June 25, 2008. However, it was vetoed by the Governor on July 2, 2008. On October 20, 2008, the veto was overridden by the South Carolina Senate and on October 21, 2008, it was overridden by the House of Representative. 2008 Acts and Joint Resolutions, Act No. 413, p. 4061.

Pertinent to the Act and this Petition, the following provisions set forth in § 17-28-30 of the Act:

§ 17-28-30. Offenses for which post-conviction DNA testing available.

- (A) **A person who pled not guilty to at least one of the following offenses, was subsequently convicted of or adjudicated delinquent for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing of his DNA and any physical evidence or biological material related to his conviction or adjudication:**
- (1) **murder (Section 16-3-10);**
 - (2) **killing by poison (Section 16-3-30);**
 - (3) **killing by stabbing or thrusting (Section 16-3-40);**
 - (4) **voluntary manslaughter (Section 16-3-50);**
 - (5) **homicide by child abuse (Section 16-3-85(A)(1));**
 - (6) **aiding and abetting a homicide by child abuse (Section 16-3-85(A)(2));**
 - (7) **lynching in the first degree (Section 16-3-210);**
 - (8) **killing in a duel (Section 16-3-430);**
 - (9) **spousal sexual battery (Section 16-3-615);**
 - (10) **criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (Section 16-3-652);**
 - (11) **criminal sexual conduct in the second degree (Section 16-3-653);**
 - (12) **criminal sexual conduct in the third degree (Section 16-3-654);**
 - (13) **criminal sexual conduct with a minor (Section 16-3-655);**

- (14) arson in the first degree resulting in death (Section 16-11-110(A));
- (15) burglary in the first degree for which the person is sentenced to ten years or more (Section 16-11-311(B));
- (16) armed robbery for which the person is sentenced to ten years or more (Section 16-11-330(A));
- (17) damaging or destroying a building, vehicle, or property by means of an explosive incendiary resulting in death (Section 16-11-540);
- (18) abuse or neglect of a vulnerable adult resulting in death (Section 43-35-85(F));
- (19) sexual misconduct with an inmate, patient, or offender (Section 44-23-1150);
- (20) unlawful removing or damaging of an airport facility or equipment resulting in death (Section 55-1-30 (3));
- (21) interference with traffic-control devices or railroad signs or signals resulting in death (Section 56-5-1030(B)(3));
- (22) driving a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol or drugs resulting in death (Section 56-5-2945);
- (23) obstruction of railroad resulting in death (Section 58-17-4090); or
- (24) accessory before the fact (Section 16-1-40) to any offense enumerated in this subsection.

- (B) **A person who pled guilty or nolo contendere to at least one of the offenses enumerated in subsection (A), was subsequently convicted of or adjudicated delinquent for the offense, is currently incarcerated for the offense, and asserts he is innocent of the offense may apply for forensic DNA testing of his DNA and any physical evidence or biological material related to his conviction or adjudication no later than seven years from the date of sentencing.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-28-30. The Act also requires that the “application must be on such form as prescribed by the Supreme Court.” S.C. Code § 17-28-40.

Within Act 413, there was a companion provision styled as the “Preservation of Evidence Act.” Pertinent to this appeal, within this portion it delineated offenses for which physical evidence and biological evidence must be preserved. Section 17-28-320 (A) listed the identical offenses set forth in Section 17-28-30 and established the following condition of retention:

- (A) A custodian of evidence must preserve all physical evidence and biological material related to the conviction or adjudication of a person for at least one of the following offenses: . . . [And]
- (C) The physical evidence and biological material must be preserved until the person is

released from incarceration, dies while incarcerated, or is executed for the offense enumerated in subsection (A). **However, if the person is convicted or adjudicated on a guilty or nolo contendere plea** for the offense enumerated in subsection (A), the physical evidence and biological material **must be preserved for seven years** from the date of sentencing, or until the person is released from incarceration, dies while incarcerated, or is executed for the offense enumerated in subsection (A), whichever comes first.

Section 17-28-320(C). When Act 413 was passed, it included, in pertinent part:

I. **This SECTION takes effect on January 1, 2009.** However, the implementation of the procedures provided for in this SECTION is **contingent** upon the State Law Enforcement Division's receipt of funds necessary to implement these provisions. Until the provisions of this SECTION are fully funded and executed, implementation of the provisions of this SECTION shall not prohibit the collection and testing of DNA samples by the methods allowed prior to the implementation of this SECTION from persons convicted, adjudicated delinquent, or on probation or parole for those crimes listed in Section 23-3-620. Upon this SECTION taking effect, a South Carolina law enforcement agency, which has in its possession any DNA samples that have been included in the State DNA Database, immediately must destroy and dispose of the DNA samples in accordance with regulations promulgated by SLED pursuant to Section 23-3-640.

Savings clause

SECTION 5. The repeal or amendment by the provisions of this act or any law, whether temporary or permanent or civil or criminal, does not affect pending actions, rights, duties, or liabilities founded thereon, or alter, discharge, release or extinguish any penalty, forfeiture, or liability incurred under the repealed or amended law, unless the repealed or amended provision shall so expressly provide. After the effective date of this act, all laws repealed or amended by this act must be taken and treated as remaining in full force and effect for the purpose of sustaining any pending or vested right, civil action, special proceeding, criminal prosecution, or appeal existing as of the effective date of this act, and for the enforcement of rights, duties, penalties, forfeitures, and liabilities as they stood under the repealed or amended laws.

Severability clause

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